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DePue: Today is Thursday, October 14, 2010. My name is Mark DePu@itéetor
of Oral History with the Abraham Lincoln Presidential Libralyo d ay we o r e
i n At onement Lut meherabecadd hoth Rdyer Posagal, we 0
who | 6m going to be interviewing today
did | pronounce the name wrong?

Poszgai: No, you pronounced it correct.

DePue: Okay, whew. Roger, why dondét ypwou start
were born?

Poszgai: | was born in lllinois in 1944.

DePue: Okay. How did your family end up beingliinoisi n 1944? That 6s t

middle of the watr.

Poszgai: Yeah, thatoés the middle of the war. A
know why they vere inlllinois, except my mom and dad were both in the
military at that time, in the Navy. My mom was a Navy nurse, and my dad
was in communications. He was the&7Eop rank at that time, chief petty
officer, and he wam the electronics and communicatio f i e | d . My dad
rating would have been ETNC, as | would remember.

DePue: ETNC?
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| think that stands for something like electronics technigialectronics
Technician Communications]

Well, llinoisi snd6t <c¢cl ose t o oatheborkeiofilake of ocean
Michigan, and you guys got Great Lakes Naval Training Center there. Is that
where he was stationed?

Well, being as | was just born, | dono
discussed a lot of personal history like that, but | Wauispect that for a

while he was stationed at Great Lakes Naval Base, and my mom was a Navy

nurse. They may have both been home on leave at that time, b#lianises

where she grew up, and thatdés where my
relatvesonmp mo més side | ived in that area.

Chief petty officer would suggest your dad was a career Navy guy.
Yes, he was. He spent twerityo and a half years in the Navy.

Just doing some quick m&tidoes that mean he came in afterfihs world
war?

Actually, | think he was in during part of thiest world war, towards the tail

end, and | do remember my parents telling me that he got out somewhere
around that Depression era. And whenever he did get out, he went right back
in, becaus there were no jobs out there, and then he turned it into a career for
a lifetime.

Poszgai is a rather unusual name. What

Well, we kind of thought it wasnodét so
Hungarian name, andyn f a angestoréllscame from Hungaryin

Hungarian that name would be pronounced PQ®Jd We kept the original

spelling of that name, although he had so many brothers and sisters, and they
came in through the St. Louis ade&astSt. Louis, actually thatwhen they

lived together, some of them, in the same apartment building, they changed

the spelling of their names because th
He had also kept his spelling, which was interesting, because over the years

w e 6 unantorseveral professional peopl@ne was a doctérthat

recognized our name immediately asRy@i from Hungary and pronounced it
POOJgoy and told me all kinds of history about the name and the family.

Actually the family in Hungary came from royalty.

That 6s what these other people told yo
Correct.

In what timeframe did your ancestors immigrate to the United States?
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Well, | have to think that since my dad was the firstBohe just passed away
a while back | would say just wer a hundred years ago.

So it sounds like they would have come here befor&itseWorld War,
which would have been good timing for them.

And they started a grocery store in East St. Louis.

Did your father serve on board ship dgritheSecondWorld War? Do you
know anything about that?

Yes,ldoUnf ortunat el y | -ambohiténovids.aHe okt he bl a
many blackandwhite movies, and if you recall the movide Sand Pebbles

the Hollywood people had offered him tpia bit of money for his films that

he had made when he was out théte was on the Yangtze Patrol in China,

and he had actually even had a ring ma
right on it there was a picture of a dragon on one side and a pagdtia

other side. | wore that ring all through the service and through high school,

and when my son finally got of age in high school that they wanted to buy

class rings, | offered him that and he took it, and he was very proud of it.
Unfortunately, somedw it got lost over the years, as teenagers sometimes do,

you know. (laughs)

l 6m assuming your father has passed aw
Yes.
Well, he would probably have a very interesting story to tell, too.

| 6m sur e he wdathdrdndl navertreally bogded amiole lot.

After | became a certain age, the family seemed to change somehow, and that

was rather disheartening to me as a youngster because | remember always

mi ssing my dad when he wasnfiThatar ound a
was when we lived down in the Norfolk area and he was stationed at Dam

Neck, Virginia, as an instructor for electronics. And then when we moved to

Balti more, | dondt know what changed i
everything, but one day he walkadthe door. | had missed him, and | hugged
hi m. He pushed me away and said, i Me n

from now on, 0 and that kind of hurt me
huggers.

Do you recall what age you were at that time?
| was probably in the fourth or fifth grade.
Okay. When did your father retire from the Navy?

Probably around 1953 or 1954.
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Okay. So you still would have been ten years old or so at the time, so maybe
that was about the tinteat this incident happened. Is that why you had
moved to Baltimore at the time, then?

After he had retired, he was in Norfolk at that time, working out of Dam

Neck, Virginia, although youlgkessow t her
he found gob with an airplane company called Glenn L. Martin that he went

up to Baltimore and he took that job. He had several other job offers, because

like most people even today, he did a lot of networking from being in the

military. He did have an opportunitg imove to Floridaone of the people that

owned part of the land where Cape Canaveral is now wanted him to go in on a

| and deal and move to Florida, but for
environment down there with the snakes and alligators and biregyt

guess she weighed her influence heavily enough to have them move up around

the area that we did move to in Baltimore.

We probably ought to get on the record
My dad was George Martin Poszgai.

And your mon?

My mom wasAnna MayTheresa Poszgai.

Okay. Is that Theresa with al?

Yes, | believe so.

| would assume that those early years, you got moved around quite a bit.

Yes, | did.

Was that tough on you as a ygukid?

Wel | |, it was very interesting, l et 6s p
move around a lot, that means making new friends. By the time | was maybe

five years ol d, it was figurlevdlked ut t ha
intomy father and said, AExcuse meodo out

parked when we lived up at Great Lakes Naval Base, and | called him by a

nei ghbod 6s anmame A EQecagds eAnnde ,0 bMri.ous |l y Da
(laughs) Mr.Geragi So that put hinin tune with getting my eyes checked,

and then they put glasses on.nrethose days, glasses were very heavy and

thick, and it may have corrected my vision, but then it made me an outcast

amongall the other kidsso every time | moved somewhere, | wigays

teased about my glasses as well as being the new kid on the block, and so then

| 6d really have to work on relationshi
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Well, (laughs) | have a couple different images that get conjured up by your
comment abut working on relationships. Can you flesh that out, what you
mean by that?

Just trying to get along with the rest of the kids and not get into a fight and get
sent home (laughs) from school or something for misbehavior or anything like
that.

Roger, were there a couple of scrapes that you got into?

Well, my parents said | came home crying every now and then, but they never

saw all theothert i mes t hat | didndét come home c
home, so (| aug lbsgy. Youkidow, thieyiwerd sittindg kind ef r d

off to the sidenotr eal 'y knowi ng what was happen
know.

And you werent6t telling them, sounds |

No, I never told them any of that.
Is part of that becauseyo di dndét think your dad woul

That 6s correct. My dad was very unrece
he told me if I got in a fight and some paseoameo him, or anything else

l i ke t hat , t haiplinetinkodvederdny pdrtethantoeededtd i s ¢
deal with whatever | had to do to not be in a fight.

How was your relationship with your mother?

Well, in the early years it was good, and then when we were in Norfolk, like |

say, it seemed tchange with my mom a little bit from the time we moved

from Norfolk up to the Baltimore arehhave a feeling a lot of thisnow that

|l 6m ol der and have talked to my wife t
do from talking to my mo@ | think therewasa@lt of stress i n my
life because they had numerous miscarriages, which | never even knew about.

They never talked to me about it, but yet after | got married, they told my wife

about it. So | think that created a lot of stress, though, a lotfefetiit points

in my parentso6é |ife, when myself and n
sometimed we | | | et 6s say it seems | ike the
towards us kids as far as what we could do and what disciplines happened,

you know. It was never coissent; there was no continuity to it.

After your father got out of the Navy, did the family settle down and stick in
the one place for a while or you keep moving around?

No, he basically stayed in the Baltimore area. We moved to a pléed ca
Dundalk where my parents had bought a house, and | went through grade
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school and high school, from fourth grade all the way to high school, in the
Dundalk area.

DePue: So that would be the place you considered growing up and home, then, for
when you vere a kid.

Poszgai: Yes, that would be. And my sister grew up there as well. She was born just
right before we left Norfolk, Virginia, so she was tiny when we méved
maybe a year old, something like that.

DePue: How much older were you than your sister nhe

Poszgai: Thereés five yearso diff édwalinguessbet ween
edd have to count on my fingers when

DePue: When you get into your 66ba@amsparhi6.85s, Yyou

and a lot of people in Americanaety, especially the Baby Boomers, look
back at thatvith kind of an idealized sense of what the 1até ans early
0 6 Was like. What was life like for you growing up, then?

Poszgai: Well, as | grew up, | went to four years of Catholic school, fronntfoto
eighth gradelt was a little over a mile away, and | had to ride my bike or
walk every dag rain, snow, anything, any kind of weath@hile | was
growing up through them years, | was a member of the Boy Scouts because
there was a good troop in ochiurch system ther&/e went out on a lot of
camping trips, every other weekend, practically. One would be with the whole
troop, which was four different patrol
would be just the patrol would go out on a camping tlipias the treasurer
during all that, and as | got too old for thiakind of seemed more tade
whi c h, hard to believe that i1itd6d be 1t a
area is really nice with all that they have for the beauty of all the forests and
ewverything there, and we did that summer and winter, any kind of weather.

The last year before | graduated high school, | heard there was a Sea
Scout unit, so | joined the Sea Scouts, transferred from the Boy Scouts to the
Sea Scouts. They had donated tartleemilitary crash boat from World War
II, and the idea was you went and did a whole lot of preventative maintenance
on that It would take seventeen people, and then you would be able to qualify
if you had more hours than the next guy to go out on aecarighe
Chesapeake Baso | put in all the hours | could after school, after my studies
and everything, and | missed it by one person. | was humber eighteen on the
list. And | i ke at five o6éclock in the
them hado back out, so | was packed and ready to go in minutes, and it was
really a fun cruise.

DePue: It sounds like you had an interest in the sea, in the Navy, perhaps, when you
were growing up in high school?



Roger Poszgai Interview # VR\A-L-2010047

Poszgai: Well, fromgrowingup as alittlekidan seei ng al l my dados
Navy movies in black and white, you know, with the projegtorf t hey 6 d
have people over, t hat Bewodldmarratwway t hey

through every one of his films that he would show, and | almost had some of
it memorized for a whil& (laughs) what he was going to say on tidese

had seen them so many times. And with being in Norfolk and seeing the Navy
yard and going down to Dam Neck, Virginia that was right on the ocean, so
we used to go swimming there at thede. That was my first beach

experience, which was interesting. | had a certain amount of enjoyment with
the water at that time.

DePue: Were you thinking in high school that you wanted to join the Navy?

Poszgai: | did. I thought all the way through hightexol | was specializing in
draftingd thatwas one of my best subjeétaindl was going to be a Navy
draftsman. I n fact, in my yearbook, th

be a Navy draftsman. And when it came time to decide, you know, | thought

Well, what else can be offered to me besides just going in? Because obviously

|l was going to go in because at sevent
continue just into the workforce, which the other option was to go into the

military, which a whole loof people in that era did go intbjust felt | should

explore all the options, and so we had different recruiters come over and tell

us what they could offer. | chose the Army instead of the Navy because they

offered me not only a school but a specsiatiool within a field, and | chose

that over the Navy.

DePue: What was the field and the school that you were going to go to in the Army,
then?
Poszgai: | went into electronic repair, and the specific was the Nike Hercules missiles.
DePue: Di dn 6t yadffér gou thexopportunity to go into electronics?
Poszgai: Only electronics, but they wouldnét of

go into. You might have been stuck fixing radios, or you might have been
stuck fixing something else, but there wasguarantee where they were

going to put you after that, and this gave me more insight, plus their schools
were shorter. The one in the Army that was offered to me was a year long
down at Fort Bliss, Texas, right outside El Paso.

DePue: You liked that ideal take it.

Poszgai: | did like that idea. It was very enticing to be able to get a little bit more
education that way, because whatever |
military hopefully is going to build h

family for the rest of my life, so | was pretty serious about that.
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It sounds | i ke you didnoét have any oth
school than to go into the military someplace.

That would be pretty correct, because | was netAlstudent that most people

like to brag about their kids as; | was more of an average or tslevage

student, and a lot of that came back to the fact that if we look @&aolier

discussion on me wearing those glasses early at five years old, tkeé sch

system in those days pushed a lot of kids through, and | learned some of the

basicé howtoread but | di dndét | earn well enouc
classevery year you canodot keep up and you
actually, when | gbintod | went to fourth through eighth grade at Sacred

Heart of Mary Schodl that was the Catholic school | went to

Then when | went to ninth grade, that was public school, and they
spotted right away my learning disabilities, and they had a new progegm t
were just starting out. They cleaned out a closet area that was a pretty big
closet, because they could get a table
there, and they were starting a special education group in thoseltays.
were several othaédids besides myself that they just startetie@ching us

how to read and spell. So 16l spell a
phonetic, and youdl l be able to recogn
(laughs)

Works for me.

Unf ortunately I donét read good in publ
read to myself at a fairly good rate o
but thatodés been a disability that |1 o6ve

of not being properly edated in the first place on the basics.

You mentioned when we were talking earlier that you were also in the Junior
NRA?

Yes, |l was, and on the weekends that |
Boy Scouts, | used to go up to Fort HolabiMaryland, which used to be one

of the major intelligence training cen
as doing the intelligence training. B u

and | was able to get in with shooting a .22 rilevas sponsored by the

Junior National Rifle AssociatioWVe had special arms people that were in

the military there, and we used their weapons and their training. And | was
pretty good at it. | had a lot of medals. | could probably weigh them, (laughs) |
hadso many.

When | did that, | alscas | became a teenagpined the teen club
that was on post because | was allowed to do that being as my dad was Navy
retired. | also remember a lot of nights when | had finished my homework,
they had a movie on posial would ride my biké that was about a mile,
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mile and a halfonewédyandl 6d ri de my bi ke to that
and get in, watch the movie and go back home again. So | was always away

from home | found different things to do to stay away froomhe, and that

was just another one of my projects that | had finally lucked out and got into,

which | really enjoyed.

Did you get involved in some of these things like the Boy Scouts and the
Junior NRA and some of tohuet ostoh eyro u hd indg
have to spend as much tiraehome or because you had the passion for those

things?

Well, I think the passion for those things developed after | got involved in

them | think the big reason | got involved in all that stuff astfiwas because
growing up, especially as a teenager,
with the respect that we treat kids with today, and there was a certain amount

of, I would call it abuse or violence. | can remember one time when | put an

endtoi t finally before | | eft home. My m
even remember what the small infraction was that | could have did, you know,

but | had chores to do, whether they were wash the dishes or do something

else, but | came home from schoahd there was some infraction that she

must have been stewing at all day, and she came at me with the belt like she

usually did a lot of timesThat time | took the belt away from her, and she had

this unusual look on her face when | had disarmedAiét.did was roll the

belt up, put it down, went up to my room, and waited for my dad to get home

and dealwithmd f i gured | 6d be a dead duck al
he dealt with me he was very physical. | can remember being in the basement

at thebottom of the stairs, which butted up against the wall in the basement,

and | can remember him shaking me so hard that | thought my head was going

to fall off. I could hear my mom at the top of the stairs yelling somehing
ARGeorge, youorief gwdwnmgkdep kddilndiitmhat .

So thatés why | was always gone. Ev
|l 6d find things to do when 186d visit t
thing 16d do then, because doolitad a <car
one of the chain of | akesBefra,twhenlhat way

was a teenager, | used to rent the rowboat and it was five bucks. Now that |
came home from the Army on leave, | had more money, so | could spend
$7.50 and get (DePuaughs) a boat, the same rowboat, but (laughs) | got the
motor on it and an extra tank of gas.

Who was the most important influence on you, then, growing up, do you
think?

Oh, | 6d QHdy cmmdhkamlayne any o feadelse m, b ut
that | had in the Boy Scouts. They were an excellent group of people. A lot of
them were firemen and tradesmen.



Roger Poszgai Interview # VR\A-L-2010047

DePue:

Poszgai:

DeRue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Okay. Well , |l et 6s get back to your
from high school what year?

June of 062.
And did you immediately enlist, then, after that?

Graduation was on a Saturday. | had-@néisted, and all | had to do was go in
and hold my hand up, and the recruiter picked me ugdhaiving Thursday
morning.

Were there any younigdies that were complicating your life at that time?
That 6s a |l oaded phrase; 1 0m sorry

There were not. | grew up in an environment where | guess Dad and Mom
were worried that if | had too much freedom, some girl would come up
pregnant, so | had a lot of restrictions that | had to go by. So basically a lot of

my social life was like at that teen club we discussed, but then | also went to a

high school dance every week, which was in our neighborhteh we had
another school @it was maybe two miles away. And one dance was on Friday

day

o p

night, the other was on Saturday night

now. | think the one farther away was on Friday night. So | would walk down,
and | would go to that dance as well. Butréheere no serious relationships.

What did you parents think about you going into the military, into the Army
specifically?

Wel | , because | recognized | wasnot

to pay for collegel d i d n 6, with snglearningodisabilitied was going
to get through college very easily when | could barely make it through high
school at that time. | chose one branch of the armed forces, and he said |

CO

couldndét | eave home unl ess wasdoiagd s o me w

to leave home because of all of these incidents that we had had with
discipline.So he recognized the fact that | needed to go somewhere, and he
signed for me to go into the military, into the Army specifically, but he would
have signed forangr anch of service as 1l ong

wherd we | | , Uncl e Samés a good teacher

as |

t

theydre starting out, you might say.

Do you think he was proud that youbd n

| think he was.

Te | | us a |l ittle bit about basic train

Fort Jackson, South Carolina.

Do you remember much about basic?

10
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| remember it was a good time. We did a lot of things, opened my eyes to a lot

of various things in a wrld that we open our eyes to as we start leaving home,
and the training was excellent. | remember going on forced marches, and |
remember one of my buddiese coul d see the end o

f

t !

getting back to the barracks, and he was a largjetfe w, and he just

make it. And | had maybe half a canteen of water that | had davedhad
drank all hi® and | gave him the rest of my water, and he made it. He never
forgot that. Thatdods the way you bu

d

Most people when theyltak about their basic traini.a

necessarily one of the highlights of their lives. They remember, you know,
grizzled old drill sergeants and harsh discipline and all of that precision that
the militaryds | oo kquiediffefeatly., but vyo

Well, I had all that discipline growing up, and so | was used to the discipline.

u

That was second nature to me. That was not a distraction. A lot of young kids

t hat have never seen that, baldneet 6s
And then | had all of my scouting experience behind me, you know, and you
start | ooking at basic training, a
learning.

Did you like the camaraderie that you had with the other recruits?

Oh, yeah. Oh, sur&.ou always had some friends, you krébwometimes you
would stick together and help out another friend and everybody got through
everything, just kind of liké | would use that movi&he Officer and a

a

Gentlemanl love that movie. But d o n 6t remember ever

cheating going on or anything; it was all straightforward and up aboagd,

you know, what we did and how we helped one another. But if you remember

in that movie where the one guy was shining shoes and therggbkim, you
know, and we wouldndét do anything
together and getting through it and learning what we needed to know.

You remember any other stories from basic?

Oh, 1 6d have to tate® a break and t
(laughs) Okay.

Thereds probably a number of them.
Okay. What happened after basic training was completed?

Well, | took a short leave and then went out to Fort Bliss, Texas, for that year
long missile maintenance schoo

Had you ever been in that part of the country before?

11
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No, I never had.
That 6s the high desert, basically.

Yeah. Well , Itdés interesting. 't has a
little bit of snow. The more ietresting part about that part of the country,

though, where | was locatédand occasionally it makes the news dowou

can see the Rio Grand, and some parts
of mud down there, you kngwe know a lot of the conttoe r sy about wh
going on. But when | was there, | could go into Mexico and | could buy my

mom some carved leather purses that she liked. | used to bargain and buy

chess sets that I liked. And some of the Mexican shop owners | got to know,

and theytaugh me how to bargain really wel/

I f you want to be a car salesman and b
it. And | learne@®

So this would be Juarez, right?

Yes, it would be, and | learned a lot of neglhniques down therét the end

of the month was good because, you kno
hard to go anywher@ movie on post would be a quarter still, something like

that, maybe fifty cents, and it cost me about twehtge cents to go spd a

whole day and go have some fun and just walk around. It would be ten cents

on the bus to go down there, two cents to get across the border, a penny to get

back, and then another dime to get back to the barracks again.

You di dnoét neyneaventdodbeer, &enalonesmone of the other
distractions that were down there.

Towards the end of the month, (laughs)
distractions. (laughter) You have to buy the purses and all that and the chess
sets earliem the month.

Well, it sounds like you enjoyed your year down there at Fort Bliss, then.
| did.

Why did you choose missile maintenanddfs is a timeframe when this is a
pretty new concepndthe military was doing it as well.

Well, that was the school that was a year long, and it was supposedly
electronics, but it turned out to be electronics, hydrauleghanical. It gave
me a real good basis as a repair guy, and | guess it was just blind luck
choosing that as oppostmisome other kind of school.

So fair to say that you really likedekraining that you received?

Excellent training. The militaryds got

12
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DePue: Tell us about the Nike Hercules. What was the mission, the purpose of the
Nike Hercules?

Poszgai: Well, the mission was to defend our country against foreign and domestic
foes [The]Hercules missile was able to shoot off a nuclear explosion if it had
to, if you had an aerial attack, and it also would be able to have a high
explosive- HE explosioni if you had troops to be supported on the ground
somewherelt depended how you programmed the missile and how you put
the arm plug in as to what was going to happen. There were a lot of controls to
how that was done.

After graduation 6 d be working in a couple o
they would go back to Fort Bliss, Texas, and they would test their skills and
fire a missile, which meant assembly and then firing it. | was in the assembly
part, and | was actually the guy that didthe electronic RHng [radio
frequencyland in charge of putting together the missile. | would have a
couple of sergeants that outranked me, of course, but | was basically the guy
that was turning the wrenches and screwdrivers and getting it donet towen
that kind of an exercise twice, and both tilhhg®u know how your missile
performs because you put it togethexndon that same day, for time
constraints, the IFC, which is the Integrated Fire Circuitry section, which is
radar, they track it, but thdiye a different missile; they fire the one that was

built the previousdayjyfou 6r e a day behind, so then
your missile performedl like, we put it together today; howill it perform
tomorrow?

DePue: | know that Fort Bliss is the Arpn6 s ¢ e n tagcraft drtillery, oaairt i
defense is what itdéos called now. So wa
against troops on the ground or against other aircraft or missiles in the air, or
what?

Poszgai: It was for bot h. avddurdatdd-ar ovstrfaceorsorfacec o u | d
plugs.

DePue: What was the main emphasis, do you think?

Poszgai: Air defense.

DePue: And you mentioned site¥ou know, when you think abc

thinking about going in combat and into the field and mgwn occasion, but
is that not what happened for these Nike Hercules sites?

Poszgai: Nike Hercules were a mobile site, and they could be taken around, but they
were basically nomobile sites, and they were installed all over our country
at one time. Therwere a lot of sites in Los Angeles, Chicago, all over the
country they were underground, and they would have a launcher come up
from underneath the ground, and great big doors would open, and then they
could launch the missile if need be.
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This isnot a small missile, then.

No, i1itdéos not a small mi ssil e but 11t0ds
[Intercontinental ballistic missil] hat you see | [
going way down into the ground, look like a pencil comipgout of the
ground.

o
—
>
o
(7))
(]
©

Do you have any idéathe dimension$ howtall it was?

| would say that it would probably be a little bit longer than a car, maybe a car
pulling a trailer, and then the booster would be, again, probably just about as
long as that.

Now, youbOve given us some pictures. Mo
Vietnam.

That would be correct.

Didndét see any

t fMIMh-14 Nikd Hertcutes midsildjere, Her ¢
so that might be

somet hing we need t oé
|l dondt have anything from that era of

Okay. How is working as a mechanic on a Nike Herdulefich has the
potential to have a nuclear warhead @nhow is that different from a lot of
the other jobs that you might have in the miifar

Well, having not done the other jobs, hard to compare, but | would think that

you would perform that task that youdr
ot her task. And itdés a very exacting t
a warhead, gu would go down through a book, and one person would read

and another person would do and another person would check and make sure

it was done, and then another person would validate that it was done. When |

was in Germany, stationed on a missile sit@eht to a warhead training

school and came out honor graduate in that school.

unds | i ke the kind of thing whe

This so
that exacting.

it &s
Youbdbre dealing with a nuclear weapon;

Does that kind of permeate everything else, the attitude that the soldiers take
in the job?

| 6d say it definitely would. Nobody wa
because mistakes are costly to human life if you mess up with explosives,
soé
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Now I 611 put you on the spot, her e, Ro
stayed with you since that time, that you have a lower tolerance for mistakes
or slip-shod work, perhaps?

No, itdos probably somet hisagentahadboyds | us
| had a hobby flying model airplanes, and | had to have my airplane just right.

No matter what | did, | had to have it just right. If | fixed my bicycle, it had to

be perfect. Some people tell tatbecause | was born in September that

that 6s probably my sign dictates that

Well, some people would be in that kind of an environment and find it
incredibly stressful over time. It sounds like you thrived in that environment,
then.

Well, yes. | thived in environments like that to have the extra pressure on me

and to be pushed, and | enjoy that kind of thing. One of my friends and I,

when | was in the Boy Scouts, learned how to play chess, and that stuck with

me through my whole life, too. Andiboyu 6r e a chess player,
fairly exact about everything, too.

Okay. What happens then after you complete your training at Fort Bliss?

| was stationed in Los Angeles, in a town called Brea, on top of a mountain
and it overlookedhe original Disneyland.

This was one of those permanent Nike Hercules sites thatgwarding
major cities at the time?

Yes, it was.
What was the daily routine, then?

Well, the daily routine was for mgot up in the moring, and like all military
procedures, you know, if youdre |iving
stuff, then you go to chow, and then you go to work. And when you went

down to the maintenance shop, depending on what the warrant offiéer had

and he vas the guy inchargewh at ever he had for you t
did.A lot of times you knew what to do and nobody was around, even,

because you would be working with preventative maintenance and keeping

the shop spishined, nice and clean and readyark. Any other time you

would read technical manuals also and post the changes to the manuals.

So what youdre maintaining are these n
Correct.

Did they have enough missiles that they could rotate some for maintenance
and then always have some out on the platforms ready to do the mission?
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Actually, the different sites that | was on hathink, two or three of those

kind of bays where thehad several missiles in them, and they had guys that
did preventative mintenance to the missiles down in thdseall them a silo,
but maybe it was called a bunker or something.

It was underground, then?
Yes.
How far underground?

Not real far, because there would be an elevator that thdemssild come
up onl If you were down there, you could see up there, and maybe it would
be twenty feet, something like that.

It just occurred to me, about the time you graduate from high school and
started your military training was the Cubarssie crisis.

Yes, it was. | was still in school at that tirmeFort Bliss

Any memories that attach to heightened tensions during the Quibsite
crisis?

Oh, I think we had this idea that you better stay in school or you mighienot

i n as good a place somewhere el se. I n
so whenever people had orders cut, it was by typewriter, and about the time of

the Cuban Missile Crisis, the personnel buildings were running day and night.

You could see theiights on, and you could hear typewriters going all the

time, so you knew people were going somewhere. (laughs)

Mm-h mm. Wel | , itdéds a couple years | ater
but youdre nearddabVWoaslylclosse endyintg mrdteetthe ar e a
city. It sounds to me | ike youdre a bi

Well, | never thought of it as being a target. If you stop and think about it,
howés an airplane going to come over,
gettoourcountry n t he first place? Therebs so

Was the threat as you guys thought of it at that time primarily with Soviet
missiles?

You know, they never really discussed it, but probably. They were probably
more worried abaduan aerial attack from a missile. You always hear that
Khrushchev or one of them might push the button during the Cold War, you
know.

So this is in the age when theyodre not
now, where you can fire a missiladahitd exactly pinpoind the other
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missile comingin.Howor i s this information that
discuss today?

l 6m sure by now itdés been declassified
saying it, right? (laughs) But thokendsof missiles worked on a burst

pattern, where the missile wouldno6t ac
close to the target that the target would be torn up in all the shrapnel that was

there in the explosion.

So not unlike flak in World War lthat we see in all the movies.
Not unlike.
Okay. Did you like that job?

I did. It was a great job. And then af
toninemontdand itdés hard to trace my caree
changed duty statiorsout from there, | transferred to a missile site in

Germany for what | thought was about nineteen months, but maybe it was

sixteen months.

Wel | , | 6ve got down here roughly Febru
that about rigt?

| think it is. | think so.
Where in Germany were you?

| was outside of a little town called Rockenhausen. It was between
Baumhol der and Kaiserslautern. -Kaisers
town. 0

Those being the @ustrial cities that needed to be protected, then?

|l dondt know that they needed to be pr
that missile base for whatever threat was going to come our way, and | think

most people recognize Baumholder as a p@ermany where a lot of the

tank brigade and all that train.

This was part of the area of Germany then that the United States Army
obviously was assigned at the end of SseondWorld War.

Correct.

Wel | |, now youbo.veTlgatt& se na movtelr esre arse a s o n
Did you like your time in Germany?
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| enjoyed it. | got on an American Express tour for like 250 dollarsas |

think about a skday tour, and it went by train and bifge went all over

Austria, Itdy, Switzerland, the Bavarian Alps, many cities in Italy. | was in

Pisa when the Pope was there at thatdime donét r emember wha
was. But it was very interesting to be able to travelibngs all expenses

paid. You know, you had your hotel ropgour food, every it was an all

inclusive, 250 bucks.

This is now twentyplus years after the end of the Second World War. What
was the economy? What was the environment like in Europe at that time?

I dondt think i tusewskrengrobernngy friena that bad d |, b e
a car was paying something like a dollar a gallon for gasoline at that time, so

i f theydére charging a dollar a gall on,
somewhere. Back in our coarntry it wasn

Did the German people, did the other people that you encounteregitbatre
Americans pretty well?

Mostly they did, yes. I think they just wanted HAey were happy to see
people that were respectful of one another. If there was arpérabwas
disrespectful, whether he be German or any other foreigner, you know,
disrespect breeds more disrespect, so. Basically | never ran into a lot of
problems like that, though. People were always nice where | went.

The missi | e swadrkimgan, thg Nikederculeserassiles, these
things canét be cheap, and itdés not |
military have where you get a chance to fire it all the time. So did you ever

have a chance to fire one? You talked about wieenwere in the

schoolhouse doing that, but once you get out to these assignments, did you

ever have a chance to practice actually firing these?

That 6s why we went OdkaWhke Sands, New MéxicoB | i s s,
actually. Like | said, | wasrothe crew that fired two different missiles at two

different times when we went there over that period of time | was in the

missile field.

So one time while you were in California and one time while you were over in
Europe?

Il 6 m t h atnhitiwoulgl betcdrrect.

So that partds expensive, too, for the
that. Did you enjoy the live fire exercises?

Well, they shoot a drone up into the sky, and that drone isiwhatgeted for
you to ke able to fire your missile at, and we never saw any of that part
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because we were just in the assembly building putting one together, being
tested on that part, and the radar area was being tested on the firing part.

Wel | , but vy o uqudstioh whgther @ nos yoleenjoyedhhat.

| found all of it enjoyable.

(laughs) Okay. Put you on the spot here. You had mentioned earlier that while

you were in Germany you also went to a school?

| went to the Nike Hercules warheadhool, and | came oanhonor
graduateThen later in my career in Germany, | was sent to&tieArmy

NCO Academy, and that was again where my Boy Scout training paid off
Because as | recall, there were many things we had to do there as we were
taugh to be leaders, and | remember they dropped us off from like a-deuce
anda-half. [two and a half ton truckfigurehow many guys fit on one of

those. They gave us each a compass, a flashlight, and a map just as the sun

was going down, and it was a topagin&¢cal mapTh ey sai d, AOkay,

t o t he TDhareweraquite s lotwf fellows that never got back and got
any sleep. | think | got back maybe foftye minutes later and got my area
straightened away and my studies done for the next dayang@ng

preparedl got a good nightds sl eep. But

the next morning about breakfast time, and | heard they got washed out right
away; the were automatically dropped from the program.

I f youdr e @dAcademy, that suggests thik Gy this time in your
life, you were thinking that you wanted to make the Army a career. Would
that be correct?

Well, | was an E4 by then, and | was probably up for promotion, because |
was probably one of the moranking E4s.

A specialist?

A specialist E4, yeah. And they sent mettaat 7th Army NCO Academy. |
canodét really say why t hey c¢ hwengoume
come back from there, you get promoted to the next grade upyeacall that

t hat wasnét happening. They al ways
stripe, you know.

The stripe would have brought you up to sergeant?
Yes, or actually specialist-g, but they always referred to it as a stripe.

Okay. This would have been about t
be due to reenlist as well.
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That 6s probably one of the things that
not making any rank here; maybe | should just changesti€o | reenlisted

for a schod | guess | could have reenlisted for a stripe, but it seemed to me
education would be something that stays with you longer than that stripe does.

So | chose explosive ordinance disposal as my first choice and medical

equipment repair as my second choice. It might have been just the opposite; it

might have been vice versa. But either way, it finally came down that | was

accepted for medical equipment repair school in Denver, Colorado, at

Fitzsimmons General Hospital.

Woul d that have been about the typical
from Germany?

| was getting close to that. | was getting close to that time anyway. And at that
time | had thought | would probably stay in the military.

What timefame, what month and year, then, did you return back to the States
to go to this medical equipment training?

Wel |, | 61 1 bet if we |l ooked on my DD 2
that month on there, and whatever that was would probaldéctéf And if |
check it overé (pause)

Well, I know that you went to the NCO Academy in July of 1965, so it sounds
like it would have been somethiéag

It looks | ike September of 664 as | 1|o
and look acres here.

Well, anyway, the question | ha¥eandthe reason | was asking of the

timeframeé this is about the time that things in Vietham are heating up a little

bit. After Johnsinln%6es5 rtehed reecse da ilno tl 9
alotmoreact i vity, t hepieVdienam Wastthatsamethingu i | d
that you recall being discussed a lot when you were over in Germany?

Actually I didndét have it discussed. I
for some reason. | guesswetjus di dnét get ;goulknbwyoe | ot
were just doing your job and working.
got Armed Forces Radio that you could listen to, and most of us were going
downtown or doing something else in our off time, notipg a lot of

attention to current events. And the biggest newspaper that we would get

would be that military newspapestars and Stripegs and we di dndét s
many of those either. So | ontobal | y di dn
honesband itassembgathat | didnoét keep up
suppose, as well as some people mightéawetl di dndét know abolt
Vietnam until | came down on orders for there. (laughs)
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So even when you were at Fitzsi mmons i
heaing much about it.

No, no.
Well, tell us what the training was like then for medical equipment repair.

They walked us through classroom and practical instruction of all their basic

medical equipment that they had that would nedakteerviced if you were

working in a hospital or in a field hospitaf you recall that TV show

M*A*S*H , [MASH: Mobile Army Surgical Hospitalthat would reflect some

of the ways some of the field hospitals weéfbere was equipment that

needed to be rgred, obviouslyif you have lifesaving equipment. So it was

a good cour se. Il didndét have any troub
this other repair experience by then.

Was it different kind of repair than you had experienced with the Néwe?
You mentioned there was a lot of different aspects to that kind of a repair job.

Wel | , in Nike Herc there was electroni
a few differences. There was still electrical and not as much electronic, but

some,but there was mechanical again, as you might thihken there was

al so, |l i ke when you worked steam steril iz
theory on a sterilizer in order to fix one of those.

Was it as demanding, as exacting?

Oh, yes.ndbugoing to get any piece of
exactly fixing it correctly. | wanted to say, when | transferred then from that
school, I went down to Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri.

That was your next duty station after the school?
Yes, yes.
Is that something you had a choice in?

No, Uncle Sam was kind enough to choose for me. And | worked in the main
hospital there at Fort Leonard Wood for quite some time, repairing the
medical equipment in the hospital andrppreventative maintenance on it as
well.

| remember the first day when | walked in, there was a warrant officer
| was going to work for, and it was interesting. As the story went later that |
found out, he had been working on a sterilizer for maybethreve e k s, hadn
fixed it, and here | am green, walking in right out of school, and the first
assignment heds giving me is to go wor
AnWel | |, sir, would you mind just review
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mebé ore | go up there so | donbét | ook
says, 0AJus-knowgwehtaty ouupr tyhoew e and get it
grabbed the pouch full of tools, and | went up there. And the medics up there

let me know that the warrant @ér had been unable to fix it for three weeks.

So | fixed it probably in twenty minut
the courtesy to tell me about the steam theory on that sterilizer, and so when |
came back down af t e himlowlgetafxedfandhe d , I
was very upset about that. (laughter)
me, (laughs) I 6m not sharing with you.
for our relationship. (laughter)

d

Perhaps a mistake on your {far
Wel | é
Youd i Il dondét |l ook Iike you regret it

|l got to tell you, (laughs) it couldnbo
of fun with that, (laughter) and so did the rest of the hospital. So from my
standpoint,itwas 6t a mi st ake.

Were you wearing 15 stripes by this time?

| was not. Iwas stllan2, (1l aughs) and 1 6d have pr
forever if 106d have been working with
because of that incident. But ookmy friends | went to medical maintenance
school with was in the field outfit down there, areland his captain wanted
me to transfer over to them. And

kep
and I 6d run into t hesevepyeherp tlse, yaut e b
it
V

I

t h
know. Well, AHave you thought about
We can make it happen. o And | said, i
the medical equipment that they have in the hospital so if | continue on | know
wha to fi x, how to fix it, and so on. o
in, and | said, ALl I right, Il 611 trans

So | did that, and | got an immediate promotion. | got rry. And

then we were working togieer, fixing the equipmenA lot of it is in conex
containers, and you have to take it ou
to go out on a momento6s notice, just |
fix, webdbd order a painordef,andl.learAedéan our pa
awful lot about doing paperwork and ordering parts and keeping everything
just right wup to snuff there that | wa
helped my experience in two ways. | then knew a lot of how to fix alstbff
that we would be responsible for, and now | learned a whole paperwork side
of it, because | think the warrant officer basically did the paperwork in the
main hospital. And then they had a CMMlommand Maintenance
Management Inspectionivhich is @ equipment inspection on post, and the
hospital scored a sixtgight. We scored a nineseven.
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Out of a total of a hundred?

Correct. And then the post commander came to congratulate us and brought
the warrant officer along, hat in hanehdaall | could do was just smile.

(laughs) Well, now | know why you say
No, sir, | did not. (laughter)

A little bit of the sweet revenge, perhaps, on your part.

Well, at least | could keep my chestiGt out.

How long were you at Fort Leonard Wood?

About nine months.

And then what happens after that?

| was transferred out of there to tBlicago area, 5th Armlyledical
Maintenance Team.

Was that Fort Sheridan wheyeo u é ?
Fort Sheridan, correct.

Now, why only nine months at Fort Leonard Wood? Normal military tours
were quite a bit longer than that at the time.

| just went wherever | was needed, you know. People come down on orders all
thetime;never an explanation of whty youodre
pack your bag.

What was the unit you were assigned to then at Fort Sheridan?
Fifth Army Medical Maintenance Team.
Okay. Yeah, you mentioned that before.

They sent me out to various dispensariesarthern 5th ArmyCould go up

to Camp McCoy, Wisconsin, could go downtown into Chicago where they

had an area right ahe lakefront at thattim@t hey donét have it
thinkd butthey had an inddamon center or something down there, and they

had some equipment. So we were going all over, plus whatever came into us

to be fixed from the hospital up there at Fort Sheridan. And whenever we

went anywhere, we had kindnexpensei ke wha
account, because youb6d turn in all you
got per diem, which was covering all youeatsand everything, and you had
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a staff car that you drove, so all the gas was complimentary on Uncle Sam.
(laughs)

Inot her wor ds, maybe for one of the fir
financially.

Yeah. Had a lot of freedom there.
So you liked that job, too, sounds like.
| liked all my jobs in the military.

(laughs) Okay. | knowhat something else important happened during the
ti meframe that you were at Fort Sherid
you met Julie?

Oh, yeah. Thatoés right, 1 did. | met n
cousird

What was her nanfe
Her name was Julie.
Last name.

Cihlar, Gi-h-l-ar.

C-i-h-l-a-r.

Uh-h u h . But | met her at my cousinds ho
Remember, | was born Iiinois, and so we had relatives, and some ofithe
were in the Chicago are&dy cousin was a couple of years older than me. His
name was Jerry. And | went over to his h@u$e was also a Vietnam

veteran, but he had came home aailyhink about eight months he served
over there Because of his mom dyirtgey brought him back home. But |

called him up when | got up there, and we metHgwas married at that

time, and | went over to his house, and they were going to set me up with a
date, you knowlt turns out the girl that | was supposed to go outhiskilind

date with had a little kid, and she came in with the little kid, going to drop him
off, and they started talking, and | guess the women were talking for so long
that allof asudden another lady comes in, and that turned out to be Julie. So
theyall were talking in another room and Julie came in, and we introduced
ourselves and hit it off.

My blind date didndét turn out to be
with the girl that they had set me up with; instead | (laughs) made a date with
Juliefor the next day. It was kind of interesting, because | had just the
weekend pass, you know, so it was like a Friday ni§htSaturday morning |
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was going to go down to visit my grandmother, and she said she wanted to

come along. So howsdsepthat mygldncl| mpsco
they all lived together at that tideand so then | picked her up the next

morning, and we went teeemy grandmother, and | did some work around

the house for her that she needed done. As | recall, she needed a light put

her basement.

|l tds always nice to have somebody in t
maintenance and all kinds of repairs, huh?

| could be popular everywhere, yeah. (laughs)
Did the relationship then develop pretty quickly aftet?ha

|l 6d say it developed very quickly, bec
a couple of months and wedd set a dat e
twenty-ninth.

July twentyninth of what year there?

1967

Okay,sothh 6 s your anniversary date.
Yeah.

And still, you had mentioned that one of these people you had talked about in
this story had been coming back from Vv
what was going on over there at the time?

It never really sparked me as anywhere different than like Guam or any of the
other islands that | had been to, because as a boy | was on Guam for a while
with my parents, so | just never gave it a thought. | guess | was just too
engrossed in having fun.

Once Julieds part of the picture, was
about whether or not you wanted to stay with the militarytemg?

Wel |, | wanted to, and she didndét, but
married. (laughterphed i d né6t want no part of movin
other stuff going on The housing that the military gave | thought was pretty

ni ce, but she didnét want any part of
life had turned her sour against being a militarfe.

What 6s the next move after Fort Sherid

Well, | was at Fort Sheridan when | married her, and then we went on our
honeymoon and came back, so we took two or three Weleksa n 6 t
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remembed becausé had leave time accumulated/e had an apartment that
we had rented together. And | got a phone call from Fort Sheridan that said,

AYou need to come in here right away ©b
AWhere am | going to go?0 And thatds w
Iddn 6t know where that was, didndét know

looked into it and found out that was a war zone they were sending me to.
(laughs)

Wel | , if youdre going to find out, you
Yeah.Solai d, AWell, when do | have to con
away. o0 And | said, dAWell, | got some |
right, you can take your | eave time fi

have probably did it the other wagsoaind and went right away and maybe
came back from Vietnam (laughs) a little bit earlier or something, you know.
But | did it that way.So then on our honeymoon, we went to an area around
Boston where my parents had moved from Baltimore, from that Duadedk
and we visited them. That was kind of our honeymoon. Then we came back,
and | went and reported in to Fort Sheridan. They kind of gave me this
introduction to what to expect in Vietnam.

What did that entail?
It entailed some lecturingnd a couple of short movies and stuff like that.
But what were the subjects?

Probably what I could expect some bad people might want to do to me. And
they showed us the puniji sticks and the holes that your foot could go into and
explainedabout eating downtown, if you get some bamboo shavings, because
one of the VC might shave some bamboo into your food or something like
that. Just how to basically be stragtartand survive.

Well, that had to be a little bit of an ep@ening expeence.

|l couldnét believe my government wante
somewhere like that. (laughter) We also took care of otli6Mt that time

and clicked in elevation andlindage, you know, zeroed it in, so we needed to
remember that maber, which seemed to pay off for me when | got into Nam.

This isnét the most delicate question,
that training as well?

You know, |l candt remember. Throughout
those fims in training sessions, sometimes on the larger posts in the big

theaters, and sometimes in the smaller theaters, you &oldgde was always

education about all that.
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When was your ship date?

I candt really r e memabomein Septanterbng| but s
was there almost a year or a year, it was sometime middle of September, |
would say.

September of 1967.
Correct.

And this is the time wh-eaep gbengdsndeiWE
going from a éw thousand in the eardy 6 ® $ens of thousands, and by this

time wedre into hundreds of thousands
hundred thousaiiglus troops stationed in Vietnam. | know by 1968 it was

there. Okay, this might be a good placeusrto take a quick break, if | can

suggest that.

That 6s a good suggestion, b[Geénerdlet 6 s pu
William] Westmoreland anflGeneral]Colin Powell.

Okay.
Before | forget that part.

We | | , ingetd spend theanext session here talking all about your
experiences in Vietnam.

(pause in recording)

DePue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Okay, we took a very brief break, and
to talk about how you got to Vietnam, Roger.

| got to Vietnamby airplane.
Commercial?

It was. It wasacommercial airplane. | should remember the namedof it

Orient or something. Nort hwest Orient
the only ones at that time that were flying into Vietham. Somethingtabo

ot her airlines di doa wmebnewdaer éxactlydhowftHaty o v er
worked out, but 1061l tell you it was a

Were you wearing fatigues during the flight then?
| think we traveled in Class A.

Tell me about arriving in theater and arriving in Vietnam. First of all, where
did you land?
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Cam Ranh Bay. Cam Ranh Bay is on your map, south of Qui Nhon.

Right there.

That s it. Thatodos the big place, right
Now, you mentioned QuiNhomh at 6 s wher e you spent mo

That 6s where | was assigned; thatods wh
headquarters for our medical depot and outfit was actually this other guy, right
here, where you see Nhaahg.

Nha Trang.

Right. So | went, | believe, by Jeep from Cam Ranh Bay to Nha Trang,-and C
47 from here, from Nha Trang to Qui Nhon, and then got picked up by my
outfit there.

So that initial drive, you got a chance to see the cyside, to get a feel for

what Vietnam was like. And | want you to, as best as you can, tell me the first

| mpression you had of Vietnam. First o
usually something that some people remember.

Yeah, and peopléhsuld remember that, because when you land, you know,

and then they open the doors of the airplane fortgalisembark and they

shut off the air conditioning that you were enjoying, there is a few moments in
between, and you could feel the heat alreadienairplane before you were

even getting out of the airplane, how hot it was when we landed in Vietham.

And then of course when you get outside the airplane and start walking across
the airport, you could feel firsthe heat r
thing everybody gets greeted by, just how hot it really is.

What was your impressions of the Viethamese countryside during that Jeep
ride north?

Wel | , | 6ve seen jungle area before bec
while, andso | thought it was very nice, very beautiful, very peackefoking.

Peacefullooking?
Of course, we know it turns into something other than peaceful.

Were you warned about anything on that trip north? Were you wearing your
steel mt by that time?

Yeah, Act ual | y | danydfthéatstufigh tgotitosny uni, dnd
so | wasnot . I didndét even have a weap
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ave bpemmd an a

So | guess i f we would [
weapons afte

t
using one of my buddies r

h
0
What was your unit of assignment once you arrived?
Thirty-second Medical Depot.

And what was the mission foine 32nd MedicaDepot?

Asyoucanimgi ne, a depot is a place thatods
supplies, and we dealt with medical supplies and issued them out to all the
surrounding hospitals, whether they were stationary hospitals or field

hospitals My part of it was to repair alhie equipment that came from any of

those hospitals.

Roger Poszgai in Qui Nhon

December 1967

Was the unit in good shape when you first got there?

Actually, when | got there, | found dgjuite interesting because after | got

there, they wanted to send me back down to Saigon to primcesere they

said they kept all our records, which to me made no sense at all. And Saigon,
if you look on a map, would have been quite a trip.

Yeahand | dondét know how many [B/A3I] es, b u
miles, 1213 hours]

Il téds not a good trdaurtor yoei fgoy oy dorydvth
And when | walked into that unit and they were telling me | was going to go
downthere the next day, | went in and introduced myself in the maintenance

shop | found four or five fellows in there, including the sergeant that was in

charge of running the maintenance shop, and they were just kind of sitting

around not doingawholelbte cause t here was nothing
have any parts. They had empty shelves that they had assembled. It was just a
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new place, starting up, basically. They had no real accumulation of parts to
work with.

| had a lot of knowledge already, as we haxplained, of repair and
supply and everything, and | just was kind of an assertive individual in those

days and wal ked in the commander s off
see him anyway to |l et him know | was t
looki ng at and asked why, and they said,
know how to get parts. Weodre waiting o
them. 06 And | says, #AWell, | dondét real
anywhere with my records and walk inandses ome guy t hatos we
uni form Iike me and say, O6Hi, how was
was, and then come back, you know. o |

we would be farther ahead if we went and got right to work. And for me to get

to work means | need to have some privilege exercised to me to be the leader

in there and get some parts into that
on that sergeantods toes, but everybody
llay outprogramdr how t o order parts and get

He agreed to that, and so | didnot
records; they just mailed them. After that, every person that came into our unit
never went anywhere; they went right to work, and they mailedthy@iu
know, through the pouches that they carry all ow.all went right to work
after that. We never lost any manours in transit just for silly stuff like
showing your records or something.

When | went into the maintenance shop and explained to tH&sgsfe
that | knew how to get some parts for them, everybody was willing to jump
right in, and they said, AWell, show u
how to fill out these little three Bywell, you remember the old IBM cards?

Yes.

That s what they were, and they had a sp
order your parts and everything. | sai
manufacturerdés | iterature that they ha
of equipment they had gottenlteat ur e on. | said, AGo t I

guy and look at it and figure what are the parts that are going to wear out the
guickest or that youbre going to need?
we went down through all these technical manuadssaarted filling out

cards. We had cards this thick at the end of a lot of different days.

A couple inches thick.

We would hand them to the mail clerk that would process them and get them
sent to Department of the Army, and within threenthg, we had all kinds of
parts coming in. Before that, most of the medical equipment that came into
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that shop, 1 f they couldnoéot fix it wit
pieces of equipment, make it one, and one that worked, they were sending it t
Okinawa, and they told me their turnaround time for equipment was a year

and a half. So if you sent a piece of
going to benefit for a year and a half
either.

So once we gahis program up and running and started getting our
parts in, our turnaround time for a piece of lifesaving medical equipment was
most generally the guys would come out of the field overnight, drop off their
list of what medical supplies they needed and whey tieeded to have fixed.
Wedd have it f i xfomrehouwpgeriothwhen theynwere goingve nt vy
back upcountry, because they were working out of various, like MASH unit
field hospitals. So our turnaround time went to just overnight, basically. And
then we stocked extra equipment, and that was because sometimes a hospital
could come under mortar attack or something and equipjwentd] be
destroyed and need to be replaced right away as they were trying to get back
up and running. So we tried to keepeattra stock of some stuff.

=)

nn

n|":

Supply yard for the 32nd Medical Depot at the base in
Qui Nhon, South Vietnam. December 1967.

You were an E5 at that time?

Correct.

Were you wearing sergeant stripes or specialistestfip
Specialist.

And the sergeant then would have been what rank?

He was an .
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So highefranking, but not that far ahead.

But he had to come up through the ranks as a medical equipment repairman,
same as me.

I n other words, you didndét think too h
equipment repairman.

You know what, | never really evaluated his skills. | never saw him in action.

|l saw when | walked in, that they were
them probatvy what t hey i ntended to do, they
step was to getarts and they were kind of waiting on Department of the

Army to take some action for them. I d
long or quite a whilgl was just a little assertive on that, and we got it going.

Qui Nhon, is that how you pronounce it?

Qui Nhon.

Qui Nhon is pretty close to the coast.

ltds right on the coast, actually. Yea

And basically youbére on the coast. | f
Pleiku. This is the central highlands region of the country?

Yeah, we serviced Pleiku. We had a lot of people come from Pleiku for
supplies.

f Cdrph area of the country, the part thiae 1l U.S. Army Corps is

Il t 6

defending or fighting in. So within th
thereds no shortage of need for medi ca
You always need medical equipmeepaired always.

Was there a hospital that was adjacent to you as well?

As | remember, it was 85th Medical Evac Hospital, and actually we shared the
same mess hall with them, the same shower. It was kind of like a little bit of
civilization in the middle of the jungle there.

Tell me about the base, then. Did it have a name?

You know, I dondt r aherahar justwie edrehineQui it d i
Nhon.

How many soldiers would have been at this particular bésgenou were?
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Wel | , t hat | dondt know either. You kn
world, in our little compound there, with barbed wire all around and being
guarded and so on like that.

Did you have American infantry units guardipgu?

We could see some American soldiers that were stationed there, but it was my
understanding that the Korean Tiger Force was on the outskirts of town, and
they were actually defending the whole area down through there. A lot of nice
fellows. 1knew a couple of them personally.

It sounds, though, that you guys weren

We were able to hear all kindf gunshots, especially at night, and you could

hear mortars going off and things like that. ldan know who was sh
them at who. Theredd be a sniper who n
somewhere out of the village, which was right across the fence from us, that

would take a pot shot and maybe shoot somebody, maybe not. Most of the

timenot but youdd hear a shot fired or s

But you had to be concerned about vehicles that went off of the
compoundor even some on the compound where some of the little kids
wouldd you would look at a little kid and just think that little kid is a dittl
kid, but some of them were armed with a hand grenade with a rubber band on
it. Pull the pin and drop it inside a dewaada-halforafivet onds gas t an
something like that, and as the rubber band deteriorates, then you get an
explosion. | guess tirehope was always to take out a bunch of Gls.

Did you actually see that occur on the compound?
|l never did. Wedve heard stories of it
Were there Vietnamese civilians who were working on the compound?

There were. We had Vietnamese civilians working all over the compound for
us.

Doing what kind of things?

Well, we had what we called the hooch girls that were cleaning our uniforms

and our hooch that we stayed in. Our hooch is like atnaoks] 6 ve pr ovi de
pictures for you ofthatYou can see i1 todéds kind of | i ki
was built before | got there outdft looked like scrap wood that they had

from different shipping carés andthen the top of it was the top of thete

you know, fortheroofYfo u6d see some Quonset hut me
stuff, and that was that. But they would do the cleaning of the inside of that as

well as our uniforms. | got to tell you, every time we would come back to the
barracks, if we wuld change ouboots you could see the amount of mud that
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we dealt with all the time, and that amount of mud, they had a lot of cleaning
to do on uniforms and personal iter®e it was a hard job for these hooch
girls. | provided one picture that has th@och girl® | think having lunch a

bunch of them, as theyo6re sitting i1In a

DePue: With the traditional caps. What did you call those, the caps that they wore?

Poszgai: Il didndot call It anything. Maybe they
referred to as coolie h&ts

DePue: Coolie hats, okay.

Poszgai: 0 but that would bgl think, a Chinese expression from the coolies that used
to pull therickshaws n Chi na. But thatodés what | w
as. We used t o mathelpajanbsalacktpdjaengsbér e wear

DePue: Did you suspect that some of these would have been Vietcong or Vietcong
sympathizers?

Poszgai: The word was that some of them could have been. Keep your eye oatthem
every minute, every oranybodyyourieeen o6t t ur n

know. Even the guy that cut our hair was a Vietnamese, and there were a lot
of times | just absolutely refused to get my hair cut unless there was a couple
of Gls standing there tol remember one time one of the Gls, one of my

budde s , he stood there and told papasan
big razor, you know how they do the si
mi ght want to skip doing that because

papasanvas real careful about it.

We had another one that was on the compound servicing just our
medical depot, and he was like a carpenter. If you wanted anything buiit
| had to build several different things in the maintenance&Hhugpwould
build it. He would come up with materialadeverything. One of the first
requests | had from one of them was we needed an air compressor in that
mai nt enance shop so we could check den
an air gun to blow stuff out and things like that in the norcoakseof
reparing. So | had to talk to one of the papasans that was a carpenter, and he
put in an air line for us and everythihglid a nice job of it.

DePue: Did the fellow soldiers that you work with treat these Vietnamese pretty
respectfully, do you think?

Poszgai: | think we all treated them respectfully unless there was something that came
back towards us that was negative. You never saw anybody being abusive to
anybody.

DePue: How about vice versa, the Vietnamese, the way they dealt with the
Americans?
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Always very polite. | think they were very grateful that we were there, most of
them, because especially the ones on the compwmarelgetting paid money.
Andyou know, in Vietnam, | &m sure that
the fence from us, it wagard to even meet the standards, you know, without

cash flow coming in from somewhere. Obviously the only cash flow was

going to be from either us or the VC.

i Acrtolses f ence. O

The view of Qui Nhon from the
American base which Roger
Poszgai and the 32nd Medical
Depot called home.

Did they speak English?
They did, a lot of them did, or-between English, you know.

DePuebDid you have opportunities very often to leave the compound?

Poszgai:

DePue:

Poszgai:

DePue:

Not too often. About the only time | erleft the compound was on official
business when we had to make a run out to what | called the valley, which

was the immediate area outside of our compound, where there was a couple of
dispensaries out that way that needed any repair work done or gnijkkin

that.

You said there was a village right outside the gate. Did the Gls go out into the
village?

Some of them did. I didnodot . I was not
putting myself in jeopardy addgWaut own wh
candét tell whodéds the good guy or the ©b

black pajamas. | know a lot of Gls that would go into some of the little
roadside bars and get a cold beer or whatever they could get, you know, or try

some oftheirfoodnd ot her t hings. I wasnodt int
Well, youbre being rather delicate her
Gls go to different places, one of the

got prostitution outside as well. Was that a probleith #he command there?
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Wel | , | dondt know how much oKnewa pr obl

a few Gls, a few of my friends, that went downtown and came back with some

venereal diseas&.ou know, Ilguess hat 6s going to be some

deal with wherever the Army is or any military organization, because | can go
all the way back to my days down at Fort Bliss, Texas, wheeef the

students that | wgg] student with went across the border and thought he got

a good deal on it out in ¢éhalley there for two bucks and came back with some
clap and was leaving his fingerprints on the urinal there as he tried to urinate
you could hear him in there screaming, and then he figured out he needed to
go on sick call after that.

| mean, a personeeds to be stresmart and protect themselves when
theyore in these environments. 11t0s

no

out and, you knowé |1 6édm not saying anyt

think that college life is kind of a loose lifené| think some people think the

military |life is that way. You know,

integrity and morals, things are going to catch up to you.

Did this village exist, you think, before the Americans decided to set up a
compaind there?

| think it did, because as | drove through it, it was a large village, and when
you drove a big truck through there, a deaoéa-half, you had to go very

slow because it was like a sea of people, and they were just having to move
outof the way of your vehicle. Some of them were probably trying to sell you
stuff or whateverl always used to sit on the top of the deaoée a-half with

my shotgun and view everybody as we were going through the crowd to make
sur e t h anyaggresmnsgetting ready to come our way. It had to be a
pretty big city.

Could you tell of any French influences in the area?

| think sometimes if you looked at some of the Vietnamese, especially the
Vietnamese women, you could see a lot of Fneanad a lot of that.

But not the architecture or anything like that?
Wel |, | didndét see a whole |l ot of t
Were there any Viethamese Catholics in your area?

| think there were, &cause there was one mission that we went to when | was
there to do something, and | think that was run by some nuns.

he

|l f youdre not going into the village,

reasons not to do that on your off time, what do yowdcetep yourself
interested and engaged in your-déity time?
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remember what MARS stood for exactly nfMilitary Affiliate Radio
System] but that was a —
communications statioryou
could go there and probably sit
all day, or the better part of the
day, but what you would do is
coordinate with your family at
home to be able to make a phon
caldband itdés in
pictures. So you would sit there
till your name was called, and
then you would maybe get a
threeminute phone call with one
of your loved ones at home. And |l
you wer en®tyesqgaui
could go t@ they had a PX theref&
in Qui Nhord | provided a picture of  poszgai at a Mars station, 1968

that as web and you had three beer

rations and three sodagpo r at i ons and <cigarette r
didndét drink the pop, so we traded
month we all had what we needed, and we would go and get our supply.

hung out with several fellows; | think there wererfatifirst and thermve

graduated up to about eight of

us that hung around in the

evenings. We had sent home for

chess sets, and we had at least

three chess sets where we had

games going all the time. And

then we had our refreshment,

our beer or our soda ppin

there. We also had a club there

on our compound; you could go

thereif you had extra money,

andyou could buy a little bit of

food instead of eating in the mess hall and drink a beer. Sometimes they would
have a USO show come.

""""

Poszgai outside Qui Nhon PX, 1968 &

o i

Any memorable ames from the USO show?

No, uhuh. Nothing that | can remember of anybody famous. Some of them
were put together with like Viethnamese people that would get up there on a

ati
of f

stage, and theydédd sing the old songs
right to the music, but you know they

saying. (laughter)

Was there a movie theater?
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